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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

CHRIS KELLY, JR., 

 

   Plaintiff, 

               v.  

 

JUDE PANNELL, TRAVIS NEELD, NILES 

MERCER, DOES 1-10, THE CITY OF IOWA CITY, 

AND JOHNSON COUNTY,   

 

   Defendants. 

 

 

 

Civil Action No. ________ 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 

Jury Trial Demanded 

 

COMES NOW, Plaintiff Chris William Kelly, by and through undersigned counsel, and complains 

against Defendants and requests trial by jury.  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Mr. Kelly, a Black man with dreadlocks, went to the store for hot dogs on the afternoon 

of December 26, 2019. A local county prosecutor, Mr. Jude Pannell, a white man, was out 

shopping. He saw Mr. Kelly, who he vaguely recognized, and who he thought looked suspicious. 

He placed a call to the cell phone of nearby Iowa City Police Department (ICPD) Officer Travis 

Neeld and, on information and belief, he indicated, suggested, or directed, expressly or 

otherwise, that Mr. Kelly be given a certain Treatment, as defined below in paragraph 4.  

Officer Neeld knew just what to do. Within minutes, Mr. Kelly was pretextually and 

illegally stopped, interrogated, taunted, provoked, assaulted by a team of ICPD officers, tased 

multiple times, and arrested. “You’ll get food in jail,” laughed Officer Doe 1, throwing away Mr. 

Kelly’s hot dogs as Mr. Kelly was lying on the ground, bleeding, bruised, and handcuffed. Mr. 

Pannell told the officers to “keep his name out” of the incident report, and they did.  
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The Treatment is a practice both infinitely variable across law enforcement localities and 

intimately familiar to Black persons and other persons of color everywhere in this country. It has 

an ancient lineage, dating back at least to the methodology of fugitive slave patrols that are 

intertwined with the origins of modern policing.1 Its practitioners talk about preserving Law and 

Order and Keeping Communities Safe, but neither they, nor any of us, are blind to the real effect: 

putting select Black persons in their place and telling them, and the larger Black community, that 

they are defenseless in the face of police power, and impunity, and that they had better toe the 

line. The impact is harassment, intimidation, humiliation, dehumanization, and dominance. The 

Treatment is reflected in New York City’s infamous “stop and frisk” policy and countless 

variations documented elsewhere.  

The Treatment (see paragraph 4) begins with an illegal stop lacking particularized and 

objective basis for suspecting that the targeted individual is in violation of the law. From there, 

the desired degree of harassment, intimidation, and abuse is achieved at the stopping officer’s 

discretion by employing one or more familiar pretexts to justify a search or a physical 

confrontation. Pretexts include interpreting any movement as a potential threat to officer safety 

(the infamous “going for a gun”), claiming to smell marijuana, calling in false information (as 

occurred here), or using belittling and degrading comments to provoke conduct that is 

characterized as a threat to officer safety or failure to follow a lawful command. Once physically 

dominated, the subject can be charged for something illegal on their person, or for resisting 

arrest, or sometimes just released hours later, having been taught a lesson about who is in charge.  

 
1  See, e.g., Gary Potter, The History of Policing in the United States, Eastern Kentucky 

University School of Justice Studies, at 

https://plsonline.eku.edu/sites/plsonline.eku.edu/files/the-history-of-policing-in-us.pdf.  
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The infliction of the Treatment on Mr. Kelly by Defendants on December 26, 2019, as 

described in this Complaint, was illegal, racially-motivated, and inflected by conspiracy and 

abuse of power. The illegality of the stop has already been decided as a matter of law after 

careful consideration of sworn testimony and other evidence taken at a suppression hearing in the 

criminal case Mr. Kelly was subjected to after his assault. Even though Mr. Kelly’s public 

defender in that case focused the challenge on the lack of reasonable suspicion behind the stop, 

the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Iowa could not contain its indignation at the 

flagrant racial profiling and “violent” use of force evident in factual record, calling the case “a 

story of ‘walking while black’” that “continues a long and unfortunate pattern of racial profiling 

and pretextual stops of Americans of color.” United States v. Kelly, 481 F. Supp. 3d 862 (S.D. 

Iowa 2020) (emphasis added).  

But the impunity that allowed the illegal and unconstitutional stop and assault of Mr. 

Kelly to happen on December 26, 2019, remains strong in Iowa City. Defendants responded to 

media inquiries by insisting—in open defiance to the findings of the District Court—that Officer 

Neeld’s were “lawful” and “did not violate department policy.”2 On information and belief, 

neither Officer Neeld nor anyone else involved in the incident has been subject to any discipline, 

reprimand, or adverse consequences. 

The consequences for Mr. Kelly, however, have been brutal and far-reaching. In addition 

to the physical pain and suffering, emotional distress, and humiliation, he was incarcerated for 

over eight months at the Muscatine County Jail under the tenure of now notorious Administrator 

 
2  See Brian Tabick, “Judge dismisses charges against Black man, saying he was targeted by Iowa 

City Police”, KCRG ABC-9 News, Oct. 19, 2020, at https://www.kcrg.com/2020/10/20/judge-

dismisses-charges-against-black-man-saying-he-was-targeted-by-iowa-city-police/.    
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Dean Naylor,3 and has suffered persistent mental anguish in various forms linked to the trauma 

of the incident and the experience of being so viciously and invidiously targeted. He now seeks 

damages, accountability, and justice. 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This is an action arising under the United States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 

1983, and 1985, the Constitution of the State of Iowa, and Iowa common law.  

2. This action seeks compensatory, consequential, special, and punitive damages, 

and appropriate injunctive relief, resulting from what this Court has already factually determined 

to be flagrantly unconstitutional treatment of Mr. Kelly by the ICPD and other Iowa City and 

Johnson County officials December 26, 2019. Kelly, supra. 

3. This action also recognizes that the challenged conduct on December 26, 2019, 

was not some isolated incident; not the result of any single individual’s singular exercise of 

“poor judgment” or a “mistake,” nor merely the work of a few “bad apples.” It did not come out 

of nowhere. Rather, it was a particularly flagrant instance of a broader and long-standing custom 

and practice that is familiar to many, many Black people in Iowa City. The custom and practice 

is the product of a legacy of official acts and omissions, supervisory practice, official and 

unofficial trainings, on-the-job training and mentoring, and expectations, stereotypes, and 

understandings, expressed and reinforced through conversations, shared sympathies and 

frustrations, rehearsed justifications, reactions, stories, anecdotes, jokes. It is continuously 

created, maintained, and enforced by ICPD officers and local officials at all levels, including the 

 
3  See, e.g., Hillary Ojeda, Johnson County officials concerned by Muscatine jail administrator's 

'reprehensible' comments, Press Citizen, Apr. 15. 2020, at https://www.press-

citizen.com/story/news/2020/04/15/officials-discuss-muscatine-jail-administrators-

reprehensible-comments/5137109002/. 
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highest levels, on a daily basis, on-duty and off. Critically, and intolerably, it is both explicitly 

and implicitly driven by considerations of race and invidious racial stereotypes. It is, in a word, 

racist.  

4. The custom and practice is herein called the Treatment and is herein specifically 

defined as: a racially-motivated police stop, made without or with only pretextual regard to 

probable cause or reasonable articulable suspicion, followed by an escalation of the 

confrontation using select tactics, and typically resulting in degrading treatment, excessive use of 

force, and/or wrongful arrest of the targeted individual, and which is selectively deployed at the 

discretion of ICPD officers and other local officials as a means of sending a law enforcement 

message to the targeted individual and the broader Black community, i.e. to keep them “in line.” 

As such, the Treatment is typically deployed against Black persons who are found in the “wrong 

neighborhood” or other “unexpected” locations or who are subjectively perceived by local 

officials as being a dangerous or insufficiently respectful of law enforcement in Iowa City. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this Complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(federal question), 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3) and (4) (civil rights jurisdiction), and 28 U.S.C. § 

1367 (supplemental jurisdiction). 

6. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because the acts or 

omissions giving rise to the claims herein occurred in this judicial district, and specifically in 

Iowa City and Johnson County, Iowa. 

PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Chris William Kelly, Jr., is a 39-year-old Black male citizen of the 

United States and resident of Johnson County, Iowa.  
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8. Defendant Travis Neeld is a citizen of the United States and a resident of Johnson 

County, Iowa. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Neeld was acting under color of state law 

and within the scope of his employment as a law enforcement officer employed by the Iowa City 

Police Department of the City of Iowa City.  

9. Defendant Niles Mercer is a citizen of the United States and a resident of Johnson 

County, Iowa. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Mercer was acting under color of state law 

and within the scope of his employment as a law enforcement officer employed by the Iowa City 

Police Department of the City of Iowa City.  

10. Defendant Jude Pannell is a citizen of the United States and a resident of Johnson 

County, Iowa. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Pannell was employed by the County 

Attorney’s Office of Johnson County and acted under color of state law and/or relied on the 

authority of his office to accomplish his objectives.  

11. Defendant City of Iowa City (hereinafter “Iowa City”) is an Iowa municipal 

corporation and is the legal entity responsible for itself and for the Iowa City Police Department. 

Iowa City is the employer of the Defendants Neeld and Mercer and some of Does 1-10. Iowa 

City is responsible for the actions, omissions, policies, procedures, practices, and customs of its 

various agents and agencies, including the ICPD and its agents and employees. At all relevant 

times, Iowa City was responsible for assuring that the actions, omissions, policies, procedures, 

practices, and customs of the ICPD and its employees and agents complied with the laws of the 

United States and of the State of Iowa.  

12. Defendant Johnson County (hereinafter “Johnson County) is a subdivision of the 

State of Iowa. Johnson County is the employer of Defendants Pannell and some of Does 6-10. 

Johnson County is responsible for the actions, omissions, policies, procedures, practices, and 
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customs of its various agents and agencies, including the County Attorney’s Office and its agents 

and employees. At all relevant times, Johnson County was responsible for assuring that the 

actions, omissions, policies, procedures, practices, and customs of the County Attorney’s Office 

and its employees and agents complied with the laws of the United States and of the State of 

Iowa.  

13. Defendants Does 1-5 (“Involved ICPD Officers”) are officers employed by the 

ICPD who participated in any way or were exposed to (including by radio communication) any 

part of the plan to inflict and/or actual infliction of the Treatment, as defined in paragraph 4 and 

described in paragraphs 21-44, on Mr. Kelly on December 26, 2019. Does 1-5 acted under color 

of law within the scope of their employment.  

14. Defendants Does 6-10 (“Involved City and County Employees”) are supervisory 

officers of the ICPD and/or employees of Iowa City or Johnson County who have participated in 

any way or been exposed to any part of the creation or maintenance of policies, practices, 

customs, training, hiring, retention, and supervision that expressly or impliedly authorized or 

allowed for the plan to inflict and/or actual infliction of the Treatment, as defined in paragraph 4 

and described in paragraphs 21-44, on Mr. Kelly on December 26, 2019. Does 6-10 acted under 

color of law within the scope of their employment. 

15. The true names and capacities of Does 1-10 are unknown to Mr. Kelly at the 

present time. Mr. Kelly may seek leave to amend this complaint to show the true names and 

capacity of these Defendants when they have been ascertained in discovery. Each of the 

fictitiously-named Defendants is responsible in some manner for the conduct or liabilities alleged 

herein. 
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16. Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-10 are sued in their personal 

capacity. 

17. In doing the acts and failing and omitting to act as hereinafter described, 

Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-10 were acting within the scope of their official 

duties or in reliance on their official authority and with the implied and actual permission and 

consent of Iowa City and Johnson County. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 

18. Many of the facts common to all claims are set out in the decision of the U.S. 

District Court for the Southern District of Iowa published at 481 F. Supp. 3d 862 (“Suppression 

Order” or “SO,” attached hereto as Annex A). The Suppression Order was issued following an 

evidentiary hearing on July 28, 2020 (“Tr.,” attached hereto as Annex B), at which Officers 

Neeld and Mercer testified under oath.  

19. On December 26, 2019, Mr. Kelly walked from his residence to the convenience 

story adjacent to the “Waterfront Hy-Vee” grocery store to get some food.  

20. At the time, Assistant Johnson County Attorney Jude Pannell was on holiday4 and 

shopping at the Waterfront Hy-Vee. He observed Mr. Kelly. He did not recognize his identity but 

thought that Mr. Kelly might be a person he had prosecuted in the past. 

21. Mr. Pannell placed a phone call to the personal cell phone of Officer Neeld, who 

was conducting an unrelated operation in the area. Tr. at 5; SO at 2-3. 

 
4  See https://www.johnsoncountyiowa.gov/dept_blank.aspx?id=4749.  
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22. On information and belief, Mr. Pannell expressly or impliedly instructed or 

suggested that Officer Neeld subject Mr. Kelly to the Treatment, as defined in paragraph 4 

above.  

23. On information and belief, Mr. Pannell targeted Mr. Kelly with this conduct 

because Mr. Kelly is Black.  

24. As pretextual grounds for the Treatment, Mr. Pannell told Officer Neeld that Mr. 

Kelly had looked at nearby police officers in a way that Mr. Pannell deemed suspicious and that 

a “bulge” in Mr. Kelly’s winter jacket pocket might be a gun. Mr. Pannell gave as description of 

Mr. Kelly as “a black man with dreadlocks, a stocking cap, and a camouflage jacket .” SO at 3. 

25. Officer Neeld immediately relayed Mr. Pannell’s description, pretextual grounds, 

and express and/or implied instructions regarding the Treatment to Officer Mercer and the 

Involved ICPD Officers. On information and belief, Officer Neeld additionally instructed, 

expressly or impliedly, Officer Mercer and the Involved ICPD Officers to participate in and 

facilitate the execution of the Treatment on Mr. Kelly.  

26. On information and belief, individual Defendants’ (including Mr. Pannell, Officer 

Neeld, Officer Mercer, and the Involved ICPD Officers) prior knowledge of, exposure to, 

involvement with, and training and supervision respecting certain practices and customs 

established by the ICPD, Iowa City, and Johnson County, resulted in conditions such that 

Defendants knew the basic parameters of the unlawful conduct they were expected to engage in, 

namely the Treatment as described in paragraph 4, and felt compelled to cooperate in the 

execution of that conduct.  
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27. Officers Neeld, Mercer, and other Involved ICPD Officers readily and knowingly 

participated in the execution of the Treatment as described in paragraph 4 on Mr. Kelly and were 

motivated to participate by the fact that Mr. Kelly is Black.  

28. Officers Mercer and other Involved ICPD Officers failed to intervene to precent 

the execution of the Treatment as described in paragraph 4 on Mr. Kelly and were motivated in 

their failure to intervene by the fact that Mr. Kelly is Black.  

29. By the time Officer Neeld relayed Mr. Pannell’s information and instructions, Mr. 

Kelly was in the convenience store, buying hot dogs. Officers Neeld, Mercer, and other Involved 

ICPD Officers began to hunt the area for Mr. Kelly. SO at 3-5.  

30. A few minutes later, Officer Mercer spotted Mr. Kelly leaving the convenience 

store. Officer Neeld immediately moved his vehicle into proximity to Mr. Kelly. Officers Neeld, 

Mercer, and other Involved ICPD Officers orally strategized about how to illegally stop Mr. 

Kelly. Id.  

31. Officer Neeld stopped Mr. Kelly without probable cause or any particularized and 

objective basis for suspecting that Mr. Kelly was in violation of the law, in violation of Mr. 

Kelly’s rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution. SO at 6-7, 

10-22.  

32. After stopping Mr. Kelly, Officer Neeld and “immediately [began] yelling at 

Kelly.” SO at 6.  

33. Officer Neeld falsely told Mr. Kelly that he had been jaywalking and “lecture[d] 

Kelly about the sins of jaywalking.” SO at 6, 7.  

34. Officer Neeld “could not have reasonably believed Kelly had committed [the] 

offense” of jaywalking. SO at 13. 
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35. Officer Neeld lied or dissembled in claiming to have so believed while testifying 

under oath in the U.S. District Court. SO at 12.  

36. Mr. Kelly was friendly and peaceful, including shaking Officer Neeld’s hand. SO 

at 12-13 n.6. Mr. Kelly “apologized and [tried] to leave” but Officer Neeld demanded 

identification. SO at 6. 

37. “Officer Neeld—despite knowing that Iowa City had both a Chris Kelly and a 

Christopher Kelly with active police contacts—called in the wrong name, asking for a 

background check on ‘Christopher Kelly,’” and individual who Officer Neeld, on information 

and belief, knew had an outstanding warrant. SO at 7. Dispatch returned a code 10-106 which 

indicated “pertinent information” but did not specify what the information was. Id.  

38. During this time, “it is clear from Officer Neeld’s body camera video that he was 

trying hard to prolong the encounter and delay Kelly from leaving until [other Involved ICPD 

Officers] could arrive on the scene.” SO at 7.  

39. “Almost immediately” after the arrival of the other Involved ICPD Officers, 

Officer Neeld “commanded Kelly to put his hands on his head because he ‘may have a 

warrant.’” Kelly put his hands over his head while objecting that he did not have a warrant and 

asking “what are we doing?” SO at 7. 

40. Officer Neeld reached to grab Mr. Kelly’s arm. With his arms still over his head, 

Mr. Kelly pulled his arm away from the attempted grab. Two Involved ICPD Officers 

immediately grabbed both of Mr. Kelly’s wrists, each with both hands, fully restraining him.  

41. Officers immediately began to scream “TASE HIM TASE HIM TASE HIM” and 

“LIE ON THE GROUND.” Mr. Kelly continued to protest that he did not have a warrant and 

shouts back “OKAY! OKAY!”  
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42. The Involved ICPD Officers pull Mr. Kelly to the ground. Mr. Kelly continued to 

object “I don’t have a warrant!” As Officer Neeld yells “I’M GONNA TAZE HIM IN THE 

BACK!,” Mr. Kelly looks him directly in the eye and says again, “I don’t have a warrant, dude.” 

43. The Involved ICPD Officers turn Mr. Kelly over on to his side and an Involved 

ICPD Officer places him in handcuffs. After, or simultaneous to the moment that Mr. Kelly was 

placed in handcuffs, Officer Neeld proceeds to electrocute Mr. Kelly at least twice with his taser. 

Kelly screams in pain and shouts, “why did you tase me?” The Involved ICPD Officers ignore 

his pleas and grind his face into the ground.  

44. After he was assaulted and handcuffed, Officer Neeld and others searched Mr. 

Kelly’s person and arrested him for the alleged possession of contraband. The officers continued 

to taunt Mr. Kelly about going back to jail, including laughing that he would “at least [Mr. Kelly 

would] get food in jail” when they threw away the food he had just purchased.  

45. Mr. Kelly was charged with the unlawful possession and detained under a 

$12,500 bond that he could not afford to pay or post.  

46. On information and belief, Mr. Pannell at multiple times instructed Officers Neeld 

and Mercer to “leave his name out” of the police report and criminal complaint regarding the 

incident. Tr. at 24-25. He did so with the intention of obscuring facts that would reveal (a) the 

conflict of interest his office would have respecting any prosecution on subsequent charges and 

(b) the nature and intentionality of the misconduct, including the fact that it was an instance of 

the Treatment.  

47. On information and belief, Officers Neeld and Mercer and other Involved ICPD 

Officers who were made aware of Mr. Pannell’s involvement all understood the strategic nature 
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of the need to keep Mr. Pannell’s “name out” of the reporting and conspired to effectuate the 

request.  

48. On information and belief, Mr. Pannell’s name was left out of the police report 

and criminal complaint and other reporting on the incident.  

49. On December 27, 2019, County Attorney Janet Lyness entered an appearance as 

the government plaintiff to the above-mentioned criminal charges. As found by the U.S. District 

Court, Ms. Lyness and office of the County Attorney were “clear[ly]” conflicted from acting in 

the matter. SO at 3 n.2. Ms. Lyness and the County Attorney remained in the matter and had it 

pending in the office despite the conflict of interest from December 27, 2019 until January 22, 

2020 

50. On information and belief, Ms. Lyness, Mr. Pannell, Officers Neeld and Mercer 

and others of Does 1-10, subsequently engaged with federal prosecutors to encourage and 

facilitate the imposition of federal charges on Mr. Kelly arising from the illegal stop of 

December 26, 2019. Defendants continued to leave Mr. Pannell’s name “out of it” and/or 

minimize his involvement, and took other steps to mischaracterize the events of December 26, 

2019, so as to obscure the flagrantly illegal nature of the stop.  

51. On January 21, 2020, Mr. Kelly was charged in Case No. 3:20-cr-0016 (S.D. Ia.) 

(“the Criminal Case”). The court held a detention hearing on January 26, 2020, and ordered that 

Mr. Kelly be held without bond. 

52. Mr. Kelly was detained in the Muscatine County Jail until September 3, 2020, 

when this Court dismissed all charges in Criminal Case and ordered Mr. Kelly’s release. During 

his nearly eight months of detention, Mr. Kelly was a targeted for harassment and humiliation by 

prison staff, including Jail Administrator Dean Naylor who was ultimate terminated after certain 
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of his racist and hateful writings were discovered online.5 Mr. Kelly was repeatedly subjected to 

lengthy terms of “23/1” solitary confinement based on alleged petty offenses such as 

“insolence,” “asking staff unnecessary questions,” and “demonstrating / encouraging others to 

demonstrate.” 

53. Following a defense motion to suppress evidence and the Suppression Hearing on 

July 28, 2020, the illegal nature of the stop and the obvious racial profiling finally came to light. 

This Court issued its Suppression Order on August 20, 2020 (Dkt. 38), and dismissed all charges 

on September 3, 2020 (Dkt. 46).  

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

Unlawful Stop and Seizure 

Violation of U.S. Constitution, 4th Amendment (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

Violation of Iowa Constitution, art. I, § 8 

(Against Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, Does 1-5)  

54. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

55. At all relevant times, Mr. Kelly has a clearly established constitutional right to be 

free from unreasonable seizure. Any reasonable police officer or other person knew or should 

have known that the right to be free from unreasonable seizure was clearly established. 

56. This Court has already determined on the basis of substantial evidence and sworn 

testimony Mr. Kelly was stopped and seized on December 26, 2019, by Officer Neeld, in 

conspiracy and participation with Mr. Pannell and other Involved ICPD Officers, without 

probable cause or objectively reasonable basis as required by the U.S. Constitution. The stop and 

was therefore unlawful and in violation of Mr. Kelly’s constitutional rights. This Court has 

 
5  See supra, note 3.  
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already determined that Officer Neeld could not have reasonably believed that there was any 

lawful basis for the stop. 

57. Mr. Kelly was targeted for seizure and seized in significant part because he was a 

Black man with dreadlocks, out walking near a grocery store patronized by Mr. Pannell, who Mr. 

Pannell and Officers Neeld vaguely suspected of having a criminal record. Neither “walking 

while Black” nor having a criminal record are lawful bases for law enforcement to initiate a stop 

of a person. 

58. Officers Neeld and Mercer and the Involved ICPD Officers, at all times relevant 

to this Count, acted under the color of state law, in both their individual capacity and official 

capacity as ICPD officers, and their acts or omissions were conducted within the scope of their 

official duties or employment. 

59. Mr. Pannell, at all times relevant to this Count, acted under the color of state law 

in both an individual capacity and an official capacity in that he deployed the authority of his 

position in order to bring about the unlawful conduct hereto described. 

60. In conspiring to seize and executing the seizure of Mr. Kelly without any probable 

cause or objectively reasonable basis, Mr. Pannell and Officer Neeld acted willfully, maliciously, 

and with reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s federally protected rights, and 

thus with sufficient state of mind for punitive damages to issue under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

61. As direct and proximate result of the unlawful seizure, Mr. Kelly suffered 

deprivation of his constitutional rights; consequential deprivation of liberty for over eight 

months; severe physical and mental injuries, distress, and anguish; humiliation, degradation, 

dehumanization, public ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; and other damages and losses 

entitling him to compensatory and special damages, including lost future earnings and impaired 
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earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial. Additionally, Mr. Kelly is entitled to 

exemplary and punitive damages because the illegal seizure was effected willfully, maliciously, 

or with reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s constitutional rights.  

COUNT II 

Use of Excessive Force  

Violation of U.S. Constitution, 4th and 14th Amendments (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

Violation of Iowa Constitution, art. I, § 8 

 (Against Defendants Neeld, Mercer, Does 1-5)  

62. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

63. In unlawfully seizing Mr. Kelly on December 26, 2019, Officers Neeld, Mercer, 

and Involved ICPD Officers subjected Mr. Kelly to a use of force that was unnecessary, 

unreasonable, and excessive. The force used by Defendants was applied maliciously and 

sadistically for the purpose of causing harm and not in a good faith effort to achieve a legitimate 

purpose. 

64. At all relevant times, Mr. Kelly had a clearly established constitutional right to 

bodily integrity and to be free from official infliction of physical abuse, assault, battery, and 

intentional infliction of emotional distress, specifically to be free from the use of excessive force 

by law enforcement. Any reasonable police officer knew or should have known that the right to 

be free from use of excessive force was clearly established. 

65. The excessiveness of any use of force is considered under an objective 

reasonableness standard. “Circumstances relevant to the reasonableness of the officer’s conduct 

include ‘the severity of the crime at issue, whether the suspect poses an immediate threat to the 

safety of the officers or others, and whether he is actively resisting arrest or attempting to evade 

arrest by flight.’” Brown v. City of Golden Valley, 574 F.3d 491, 496 (8th Cir. 2009) (citation 

omitted).  
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66. As described above and evident in body camera video, Mr. Kelly posed no threat 

when force was initiated against him. His hands were over his head and he was verbally 

engaging with Defendants and objecting to their conduct as it unfolded. As soon as force was 

initiated against Mr. Kelly, he was effectively restrained by Involved ICPD Officers firmly 

holding (with both hands) each of Mr. Kelly’s wrists. Mr. Kelly was not struggling and 

continued to verbally engage with Defendants and make articulate objections to their conduct. 

Officer Neeld and other officers nonetheless continued to escalate the use of force, pulling Mr. 

Kelly to the ground. Mr. Kelly continued to verbally engage with and make objections to Officer 

Neeld in particular, even making eye contact. Presumably to stop Mr. Kelly’s verbal objections, 

Officer Neeld nonetheless made the decision to electrocute Mr. Kelly, instructing other Involved 

ICPD Officers to turn Mr. Kelly over so that Officer Neeld could tase him in the back. Certain 

Involved ICPD Officers also made independent decisions to grind Mr. Kelly’s face into the 

ground and subject him to other incidents of excessive force.  

67. Defendants to this Count at all relevant times acted under the color of state law, in 

both their individual capacity and official capacity as ICPD officers, and their acts or omissions 

were conducted within the scope of their official duties or employment. 

68. Defendants to this Count at all relevant times acted pursuant to and in furtherance 

of the Iowa City custom and practice of inflicting the Treatment in the manner and for the 

purposes described in paragraph 4. 

69. In subjecting Mr. Kelly to unnecessary and excessive force consistent with the 

custom and practice of the Treatment as described in the foregoing, Officer Neeld acted 

willfully, maliciously, and with reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s 
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federally protected rights, and with sufficient state of mind for punitive damages to issue under 

42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

70. As direct and proximate result of the use of excessive force, Mr. Kelly suffered 

deprivation of his constitutional rights; severe physical and mental injuries, distress, and anguish; 

and other damages and losses entitling him to compensatory and special damages, including lost 

future earnings and impaired earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial. 

Additionally, Mr. Kelly is entitled to exemplary and punitive damages because the use of 

excessive force was undertaken willfully, maliciously, and with reckless disregard or callous 

indifference to Mr. Kelly’s constitutional rights. 

COUNT III 

Racial Profiling and Racial Discrimination  

Violation of U.S. Constitution, 4th and 14th Amendments (42 U.S.C. § 1981, 1983) 

Violation of Iowa Constitution, art. I, § 6 

(against Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, Does 1-5) 

71. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

72. At all relevant times, Mr. Kelly had a clearly established constitutional right to be 

free from racially motivated stops, beatings, arrests, searches, prosecution, and any other racial 

discrimination in law enforcement and to enjoy the equal protection of the laws. Mr. Kelly 

further had rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, which provides that “[a]ll persons within the 

jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same right in every State and Territory . . . to the 

full and equal benefit of all laws and proceedings for the security of persons and property as is 

enjoyed by white citizens, and shall be subject to like punishment, pains, penalties, taxes, 

licenses, and exactions of every kind, and to no other.” Any reasonable police officer or other 

person knew or should have known that the right to be free from racial discrimination in law 

enforcement was clearly established. 
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73. Mr. Kelly’s race was a motivating factor in the decision to target him for and 

execute the Treatment, as defined in paragraph 4, specifically to target him for an unlawful stop 

as complained in Count I and to subject him to excessive force as complained in Count II. 

Defendants singled Mr. Kelly out for harassment and treated him differently from other similarly 

situated persons. All Defendants’ conduct was undertaken with the purpose of depriving Mr. 

Kelly of the equal protection and benefits of the law, equal privileges and immunities under the 

law, and due process in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and § 1981.  

74. Officers Neeld and Mercer and the Involved ICPD Officers at all relevant times 

acted under the color of state law, in both their individual capacity and official capacity as ICPD 

officers, and their acts or omissions were conducted within the scope of their official duties or 

employment. 

75. Mr. Pannell, at all times relevant to this Count, acted under the color of state law 

in both an individual capacity and an official capacity in that he deployed the authority of his 

position in order to bring about the unlawful conduct. 

76. Defendants to this Count at all relevant times acted pursuant to and in furtherance 

of the Iowa City custom and practice of inflicting the Treatment on persons of color in the 

manner and for the purposes described in paragraph 4. 

77. In racially profiling and discriminating against Mr. Kelly and subjecting him to 

the Treatment as defined in paragraph 4, Officer Neeld acted willfully, maliciously, and with 

reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s U.S. and State constitutional rights, and 

with sufficient state of mind for punitive damages to issue under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

78. As direct and proximate result of the racial profiling and racial discrimination, 

Mr. Kelly suffered deprivation of his constitutional rights; consequential deprivation of liberty 
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for over eight months; severe physical and mental injuries, distress, and anguish; humiliation, 

degradation, dehumanization, public ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; and other damages 

and losses entitling him to compensatory and special damages, including lost future earnings and 

impaired earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial. Additionally, Mr. Kelly is 

entitled to exemplary and punitive damages because the racial profiling and racial discrimination 

was undertaken willfully, maliciously, and with reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. 

Kelly’s constitutional rights.  

COUNT IV 

Failure to Intervene  

Violation of U.S. Constitution, 4th and 14th Amendments (42 U.S.C. § 1981, 1983) 

Violation of Iowa Constitution, art. I, § 6, 8 

(against Defendants Mercer and Does 1-5) 

79. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

80. As set forth above, the racially-motivated decision to target Mr. Kelly for the 

Treatment as defined in paragraph 4, including an unlawful stop, excessive force, and racial 

discrimination, was flagrantly unlawful, as well as malicious, in bad faith, and in reckless 

disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s U.S. and State constitutional rights.  

81. Defendants to this Count at all relevant times acted under the color of state law, in 

both their individual capacity and official capacity as ICPD officers, and their acts or omissions 

were conducted within the scope of their official duties or employment.  

82. Defendants to this Count witnessed the unlawful conduct either first-hand or by 

way of description of some or all of the conduct over radio communications.  

83. Defendants to this Count had a duty to intervene and protect Mr. Kelly. Putman v. 

Gerloff, 639 F.2d 415 (8th Cir. 1981). They failed to do so. 
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84. As direct and proximate result of the failure to intervene, Mr. Kelly suffered 

deprivation of his constitutional rights; consequential deprivation of liberty for over eight 

months; physical and mental injuries, distress, and anguish; humiliation, degradation, 

dehumanization, public ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; and other damages and losses 

entitling him to compensatory and special damages, including lost future earnings and impaired 

earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial.  

COUNT V 

Cover-Up and Malicious Prosecution  

Violation of U.S. Constitution, 4th and 14th Amendments (42 U.S.C. § 1981, 1983)  

Violation of Iowa Constitution, art. I, § 6, 8 

(against Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-10) 

85. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

86. Defendants to this Count at all relevant times acted under the color of state law, in 

both their individual capacity and official capacity as ICPD officers, and their acts or omissions 

were conducted within the scope of their official duties or employment.  

87. In conspiring to tamper with the police report and other documents to “leave [Mr. 

Pannell’s] name out of it,” Defendants to this Count sought to cover-up the fact that the incident 

on December 26, 2019, was an instance of the Treatment, as defined in paragraph 4, and an 

abuse of power. Defendants further sought suppress information that would have revealed that 

Ms. Lyness and the Johnson County Attorney’s office had clear conflict of interest in 

participating in the prosecution of any charges based on the incident.  

88. On information and belief, Defendants to this Count tampered, altered, 

suppressed, omitted, distorted, or mischaracterized official documents and their own 

recollections and testimony concerning the incident on December 26, 2019, to omit the key role 
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played by Mr. Pannell and make it appear that the conduct of Defendants generally was not 

illegal, unconstitutional, tortious, and wrongful.  

89. On information and belief, Defendants to this Count, up to and including the date 

of the Suppression Hearing, intentionally and maliciously, and with reckless disregard or callous 

indifference to the law and the legal rights of Mr. Kelly, initiated, encouraged, facilitated, and 

participated in a criminal proceeding against Mr. Kelly by the U.S. Attorney for the Southern 

District of Iowa without disclosing the true facts “left out,” altered, suppressed, distorted, or 

mischaracterized in official documents and testimony that would have revealed that Defendants’ 

conduct on December 26, 2019, was illegal, unconstitutional, tortious, and wrongful. 

90. After information regarding the illegal, unconstitutional, tortious, and wrongful 

conduct was revealed to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Iowa by way of body 

camera video, sworn testimony, and related briefing, the criminal case against Mr. Kelly was 

dismissed with prejudice, resulting in the termination of the charges in his favor. 

91. As direct and proximate result of the cover-up and malicious prosecution, Mr. 

Kelly suffered deprivation of his constitutional rights; severe physical and mental injuries, 

distress, and anguish; consequential deprivation of liberty for over eight months; humiliation, 

degradation, dehumanization, public ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; and other damages 

and losses entitling him to compensatory and special damages, including lost future earnings and 

impaired earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial. Additionally, Mr. Kelly is 

entitled to exemplary and punitive damages because the cover-up and malicious prosecution was 

undertaken willfully, maliciously, and with reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. 

Kelly’s constitutional rights. 
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COUNT VI 

Civil Conspiracy  

Violation of U.S. Constitution, 4th and 14th Amendments (42 U.S.C. § 1983, 1985) 

Violation of Iowa Constitution, art. I, § 6, 8 

(against Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-5) 

92. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

93. Defendants to this Count at all relevant times acted under the color of state law, in 

both their individual capacity and official capacity as ICPD officers, and their acts or omissions 

were conducted within the scope of their official duties or employment.  

94. Defendants to this Count reached an agreement among themselves to deprive Mr. 

Kelly of his constitutional rights. 

95. In furtherance of the conspiracy, each of the coconspirators committed overt acts 

and was an otherwise willful participant in joint activity.  

96. On information and belief, Defendants so conspired intentionally and maliciously, 

and with reckless disregard or callous indifference to the law and the legal rights of Mr. Kelly. 

97. As direct and proximate result of the conspiracy, Kelly suffered deprivation of his 

constitutional rights; severe physical and mental injuries, distress, and anguish; consequential 

deprivation of liberty for over eight months; humiliation, degradation, dehumanization, public 

ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; and other damages and losses entitling him to 

compensatory and special damages, including lost future earnings and impaired earnings 

capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial. Additionally, Mr. Kelly is entitled to exemplary 

and punitive damages because the conspiracy was undertaken willfully, maliciously, and with 

reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s constitutional rights. 
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COUNT VII 

Ratification, Maintenance, and Deliberate Indifference 

Regarding Unconstitutional Policies, Practices, Customs, Training, and Supervision 

Violation of U.S. Constitution, 4th and 14th Amendments (42 U.S.C. § 1981, 1983) 

(against All Defendants) 

98. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

99. All individual Defendants to this Count at all relevant times acted under the color 

of state law, in both their individual capacity and official capacity as ICPD officers, and their 

acts or omissions were conducted within the scope of their official duties or employment. 

100. On information and belief, Mr. Pannell, Officers Neeld and Mercer, and other 

Involved ICPD Officers were not disciplined, reprimanded, retrained, suspended, or otherwise 

penalized in connection with their conduct on December 26, 2019, and their deployment of the 

Treatment, as defined in paragraph 4, on Mr. Kelly.  

101. On information and belief, Involved City and County Employees, acting under 

color of law, had final supervisory and policymaking authority concerning the acts of Mr. 

Pannell and Officers Neeld and Mercer and the Involved ICPD Officers, knew of those acts, and 

specifically approved and ratified those acts, including by determining that the acts were 

“lawful” and “within departmental policy.”  

102. Defendants to this Count routinely deploy the Treatment pursuant to and 

consistent with an informal or quasi-formal policy and/or an established custom and pattern of 

practice.  

103. Iowa City and Johnson County, through actions and inactions, maintain and are 

deliberately indifferent to, and thereby ratify, the deployment of the Treatment and other 

misconduct by ICPD officers and other authorities, including specifically by:  

a. deploying the Treatment for the purposes specified in paragraph 2 and above;   
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b. condoning and tolerating deployment of the Treatment and other misconduct; 

c. failing to adequately train ICPD officers and other authorities to recognize and 

prevent deployment of the Treatment and other misconduct, and/or specifically to 

intervene to prevent use of the Treatment by fellow officers and authorities; 

d. failing to adequately supervise, control, assign, and discipline ICPD officers and 

other Defendant personnel; 

e. maintaining grossly inadequate procedures for reporting, supervising, 

investigating, reviewing, disciplining and controlling use of the Treatment and 

other misconduct; 

f. failing to adequately discipline ICPD officers and other Defendant personnel for 

deployment of the Treatment and other misconduct, including limiting discipline 

to duty reassignment, mere reprimands, and other “slaps on the wrist” so slight as 

to be out of proportion to the magnitude of the misconduct and is tantamount to 

encouraging misconduct; 

g. encouraging, accommodating, or facilitating a “blue code of silence,” “blue 

shield,” “blue wall,” “blue curtain,” “blue veil,” or simply “code of silence,” 

pursuant to which ICPD officers do not report other officers’ use of the Treatment 

and other misconduct, and, if questioned about an incident, claim ignorance of 

other officers’ wrongdoing; 

h. maintaining a policy of inaction and an attitude of indifference towards use of the 

Treatment and other misconduct, including by failing to discipline, retrain, 

investigate, or terminate officers who deploy the Treatment and engage in other 

misconduct. 

Case 3:21-cv-00021-RGE-SBJ   Document 1   Filed 03/09/21   Page 25 of 32



26 

104. Iowa City and Johnson County were deliberately indifferent to the right of Mr. 

Kelly to be free from and protected from harm by the deployment of the Treatment on him by 

Mr. Pannell, Officers Neeld and Mercer, and other Involved ICPD Officers. 

105. As a direct and proximate result of the ratification, maintenance, and deliberate 

indifference alleged in this Count, Mr. Kelly suffered deprivation of his constitutional rights; 

severe physical and mental injuries, distress, and anguish; deprivation of liberty for over eight 

months; humiliation, degradation, dehumanization, public ridicule, and loss of personal 

reputation; and other damages and losses entitling him to compensatory and special damages, 

including lost future earnings and impaired earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at 

trial.  

106. In addition to damages to redress the foregoing harms, Mr. Kelly seeks 

appropriate injunctive relief to redress Iowa City’s and Johnson County’s ratification of the 

misconduct concerning Mr. Kelly and the described ongoing maintenance and deliberate 

indifference regarding unconstitutional policy, custom, and pattern of practice. 

COUNT VIII 

Assault and Battery 

Iowa Common Law and Respondeat Superior 

(against All Defendants) 

107. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

108. Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-10 were at all relevant times 

employees and agents of Iowa City or Johnson County and were acting within the scope of their 

official duties and/or in reliance on the authority of their respective offices.  

109. On December 26, 2019, Defendants to this Count committed assault and battery 

on Mr. Kelly by intentionally placing Mr. Kelly in imminent apprehension of physical violence 
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and then subjecting him to physical violence, bodily harm, and offensive contact by wrestling 

him to the ground, electrocuting him, and grinding his face into the ground. The violent and 

offensive contact was not justified by any legal purpose or defense, and was not privileged or 

consented to. 

110. As direct and proximate result of the assault and battery, Mr. Kelly suffered 

extreme physical harm and mental distress and other damages and losses entitling him to 

compensatory and special damages in amounts to be determined at trial. Additionally, Mr. Kelly 

is entitled to exemplary and punitive damages because the assault and battery was undertaken 

willfully, maliciously, and with reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s rights.  

COUNT IX 

False Arrest and False Imprisonment 

Iowa Common Law and Respondeat Superior 

(against All Defendants) 

111. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

112. Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-10 were at all relevant times 

employees and agents of Iowa City or Johnson County and were acting within the scope of their 

official duties and/or in reliance on the authority of their respective offices.  

113. On December 26, 2019 , Defendants to this Count arrested, detained, and 

deprived Mr. Kelly of his freedom of movement by use of illegal and unconstitutional tactics and 

an unconstitutional use of force. At all times, Mr. Kelly knew he was illegally arrested and 

imprisoned by Defendants. The deprivation of freedom was for an appreciable amount of time, 

was not justified by any legal purpose or defense, and was not privileged or consented to.  

114. As direct and proximate result the false arrest and false imprisonment, Mr. Kelly 

suffered deprivation of his constitutional rights; severe physical and mental injuries, distress, and 
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anguish; deprivation of liberty for over eight months; humiliation, degradation, dehumanization, 

public ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; and other damages and losses entitling him to 

compensatory and special damages, including lost future earnings and impaired earnings 

capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial. Additionally, Mr. Kelly is entitled to exemplary 

and punitive damages because the false arrest and false imprisonment were undertaken willfully, 

maliciously, and with reckless disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s rights.  

COUNT X 

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 

Iowa Common Law and Respondeat Superior 

(against All Defendants) 

115. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

116. Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-10 were at all relevant times 

employees and agents of Iowa City or Johnson County and were acting within the scope of their 

official duties and/or in reliance on the authority of their respective offices.  

117. On December 26, 2019, Defendants to this Count intentionally subjected Mr. 

Kelly to physical and mental abuse that was racially-motivated, humiliating, oppressive, 

degrading, dehumanizing, extreme, and outrageous. This extreme and outrageous conduct was 

intentional, willful, malicious, wanton, and oppressive, and performed with the assertion of legal 

authority over Mr. Kelly. 

118. As direct and proximate result of the intentional infliction of emotional distress, 

Mr. Kelly suffered extreme mental and emotional distress; humiliation, degradation, 

dehumanization, public ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; loss of enjoyment of life; and 

other damages and losses entitling him to compensatory and special damages, including lost 

future earnings and impaired earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial. 
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Additionally, Mr. Kelly is entitled to exemplary and punitive damages because the intentional 

infliction of emotional distress was undertaken willfully, maliciously, and with reckless 

disregard or callous indifference to Mr. Kelly’s rights.  

COUNT XI 

Negligent Hiring, Retention, Supervision, and Infliction of Emotional Distress 

Common Law Negligence and Respondeat Superior 

(against All Defendants) 

119. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

120. Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, and Does 1-10 were at all relevant times 

employees and agents of Iowa City or Johnson County and were acting within the scope of their 

official duties and/or in reliance on the authority of their respective offices.  

121. Defendants owed a duty of care to Mr. Kelly to exercise reasonable care and 

prudence so as not to cause harm or injury, including in the use of their authority and resources 

and in the hiring, retaining, and supervising of employees. 

122. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants failed to act with 

reasonable care and breached their duty of care owed to Mr. Kelly.  

123. Mr. Pannell knew or should have known of Officer Neeld’s willingness and 

inclination to deploy the Treatment and engage in other illegal, unconstitutional, and tortious 

conduct. Mr. Pannell breached his duty of care to Mr. Kelly by conveying certain information, 

impressions, and overt and implied instructions or suggestions to Officer Neeld on December 26, 

2019, and by seeking to cover-up the unconstitutional nature of the conduct Mr. Kelly suffered.  

124. Officer Mercer and the Involved ICPD Officers knew or should have known of 

Officer Neeld’s willingness and inclination to deploy the Treatment and engage in other illegal, 

unconstitutional, and tortious conduct. These Defendants breached their duty of care to Mr. Kelly 
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by participating in and facilitating the execution of the Treatment on Mr. Kelly on December 26, 

2019, and by seeking to cover-up the unconstitutional nature of the conduct Mr. Kelly suffered. 

125. Iowa City, Johnson County, and the Involved City and County Employees knew 

or should have known of Officer Neeld’s willingness and inclination to deploy the Treatment and 

engage in other unconstitutional conduct. These Defendants breached their duty of care to Mr. 

Kelly by failing to properly supervise, train, take remedial measures, and/or terminate Officer 

Neeld and other ICPD officers who perpetuated the custom and practice of the Treatment, and by 

ratifying and seeking to cover-up the unconstitutional nature of the conduct Mr. Kelly suffered. 

126. As direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of each act of negligence described in 

this Count, Mr. Kelly suffered deprivation of his constitutional rights; severe physical and mental 

injuries, distress, and anguish; deprivation of liberty for over eight months; humiliation, 

degradation, dehumanization, public ridicule, and loss of personal reputation; and other damages 

and losses entitling him to compensatory and special damages, including lost future earnings and 

impaired earnings capacity, in amounts to be determined at trial.  

COUNT XII 

Injunctive Relief 

(against All Defendants) 

127. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.  

128. As a result of the unconstitutional, illegal, tortious, and wrongful conduct to 

which he was subjected, Mr. Kelly’s constitutional rights were violated and he was attacked, 

degraded, and abused without any justifiable cause. Mr. Kelly reasonably fears that he could 

experience similar conduct by Defendants in the future. Mr. Kelly continues to live and work in 

the Iowa City and Johnson County. He is also concerned that he will be especially targeted 
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because he successfully moved to have his criminal case dismissed and has now commenced this 

lawsuit. 

129. On information and belief, Defendants will continue to engage in the unlawful 

acts and in the policies and practices described above, in violation of Mr. Kelly’s legal and 

constitutional rights and those of others who are similarly situated. 

130. Mr. Kelly faces the real and immediate threat of repeated and irreparable injury 

and continuing, present adverse effects. Mr. Kelly has no adequate and complete remedy at law. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Mr. Kelly requests that this Court enter in his favor and grant him the following 

relief, jointly and severally against the Defendants: 

A. all actual, compensatory, consequential, special and other allowable damages, on all 

claims as allowed by law in an amount to be determined at trial; 

B. compensation for violation of constitutional rights, mental anguish, humiliation, 

degradation, pain and suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life; 

C. economic losses on all claims allowed by law, including lost future earnings and impaired 

earnings capacity; 

D. punitive and exemplary damages exemplary damages in an amount sufficient to punish 

and to make an example of Defendants, and to deter said Defendants and others from 

engaging in similar conduct; 

E. an order holding Iowa City and Johnson County jointly and severally liable for any 

judgment for damages entered against Defendants Pannell, Neeld, Mercer, or Does 1-10;  

F. attorneys’ fees, expenses, and the costs associated with this action under 42 U.S.C. § 

1988, including expert witness fees; 

G. pre-judgment interest;  

H. an order of appropriate injunctive relief;  

I. any further relief the Court deems just and equitable at law or in equity. 
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JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

Mr. Kelly demands a jury trial.  

 

DATED: March 9, 2021  Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

   /s/ Aaron Marr Page  

Aaron Marr Page 

CLARK GROVE PLLC 

PO Box 294 

Iowa City, IA 52244 

Tel. (319) 975-1474 

Fax (319) 359-4009  

aaron@clarkgrove.com 

Iowa Pin AT13549 

Attorney for Plaintiff 
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